
RFP Questions and Answers and revised Appendix B 
 

Page 1 of 10 
Last Revised: 11/22/2016 
 

RFP for Mainframe Outsourcing – Questions and Answers                                                                       11-22-2016 
 
1. Q - Please elaborate on technical support of third party software. 
    A - To act as the city’s agent to interact with 3rd party vendors – to be the system programmer and administrator, for 
systems programming support 
 
2. Q – Can you provide examples of 3rd party vendor? 
    A – CA is an example – but all 3rd party vendors are identified in RFP – see Appendix B of RFP 
          
3. Q - Is it the intent to select a vendor based upon this RFP or will there be a 2nd round? 
    A – It is the intent to select a vendor based upon this RFP - keep in mind that additional questions may be submitted 
until 11/16.  Cost will be a big factor for the review and approval by City Counsel.  
 
4. Q – What is our timeline? 
    A - It is the City’s intent to time the outsourcing implementation with our Payroll implementation completion 
and to run parallel and test.  We want to implement a live date after the new Payroll implementation Go Live. 
That said – we expect to migrate during summer 2017 at the earliest. 
 
5. Q – Will there be a need to retain access to old payroll data after? 
    A – No, we do not plan to retain access to the old Payroll system.  We will supply access to that data via other means.  
 
6. Q – What version are you on of the Universal product – VTA? 
    A – All 3rd party versions are identified in Appendix B.  However, the VTA will no longer be in consideration after 
Payroll  - and hence not expected to be supported in the outsourcing. 
 
7. Q – What about the VTA backup data? 
    A – We will convert some key backup files from the VTA into CA/DynamD backup files – removing dependence on the 
VTA.  CA/DynamD already exists and is in use for other applications. 
 
8. Q – What is the backup capacity? 
    A – We have 4.8 terabytes (TB) of DASD8870 allocated, which is probably 60-70% used.  We might want to plan to 
accommodate using 75% of the current allocation. 
 
9. Q - With DASD-DS8870 - do we do backup imaging elsewhere? 
    A – No, we do not.  But, we may implement flash copy.          
      The remote image will be part of the DR solution. 
      We are not currently using mirroring [for replication]. 
 
10. Q – RTO/RPO with tape based recovery, what is our recovery time? 
      A – We run IBM3592 cartridge – total recovery time [including obtain tape, deliver it etc. – about 24-48 hours – using 
the previous night’s backup] 
 
11. Q – What it the tolerance for migration time cutover period? 
      A – Please provide us with your recommendation – offer suggestions/options along with the corresponding cost. 
 
12. Q – Please explain what operation metrics are expected. 
      A – SLA(s) are a negotiated item – vendors please offer what you can provide – give us your standard for what you 
would provide us with and we can refine from there during contract negotiation. 
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13. Q - What is the anticipated or requested term of the Agreement, i.e., 3 years, 5 years?   
      A – The anticipated length is 3-5 years with potential to be extended. 
 
14. Q - Is the City requesting the Vendor to provide the third party software licensing? 
      A – If it is cost effective for the City, then yes.  Please identify what you can provide and if an incremental cost. 
 
15. Q - Please provide an updated software list including third party software for the hosted environment? 
      A – See the revised Appendix B (below) 
 
16. Q - What are the CPU memory requirements (GB)? 
      A – Currently 59 MIPS and 12 GB real memory.  Please refer to the pricing section of the RFP – Attachment A, for 
proposing reduction.  Per the RFP, we seek vendor assistance to determine optimal configuration for our needs. 
 
17. Q - What are the MSU reductions due to the HR/Payroll applications migrating to Workday prior to transition to a 
hosting services provider? 
      A – Currently, the City’s mainframe is 7 MSU.  Payroll is one of about 10 application systems.  The City is running 
multiple partitions within two LPAR’s (TEST and PROD).  PROD batch processing runs in multiple partitions, and the 
production online system encompasses all application systems and it runs in two partitions, but payroll will drop one 
partition.  The TEST online system runs three partitions, but this will reduce to two partitions after payroll.  The TEST 
batch system runs in multiple partitions.    
 
18. Q - Please describe your plans for print services (i.e. convert to PDF’s and distribute via internet?) 
      A – We expect to print locally at the City of Rochester.  Refer to RFP 1.3.2 ‘Current Print Process’ on p 8 and also 1.3.3 
‘Objective of Mainframe Hosting’ p 10 – ability to print from the host to City mainframe printer without changes to the 
existing process.  
 
19. Q - On page 8 it indicates that you are running on z/VM 5.4.  The End of Service (EOS) date for z/VM 5.4 is December 
31st, 2017.    The only supported release of z/VM after that date is z/VM 6.4 which requires a z114 or newer processor.  
Is it a requirement for the vendor to upgrade VM to z/VM 6.4 prior to the EOS date and provide a supported hardware 
environment (z114 or newer)? 
      A – We expect the outsourcing agreement to be in place by 12/31/17, and hardware licensing is the responsibility of 
the vendor.  Software licensing may be mixed, depending on whether the vendor offers a cost effective alternative.  If 
the outsourcing option fails, the City will look into an alternative solution. 
 
20. Q - Follow-on to prior question 19.   Although it is not specifically stated in the RFP, is it a requirement for the vendor 

to keep all IBM and 3rd party ISV software at supported release levels? 

      A – It is the responsibility of the vendor to maintain IBM software as current.  Levels for 3rd party software will be 

determined by the City of Rochester. 

21. Q – Follow-on to prior question 19.  Although it is not specifically stated in the RFP, is it a requirement for the vendor 
to provide supported hardware? 
      A – Yes. 
 
22. Q - What is the expectation regarding ownership of IBM and 3rd party software licenses?   Who will license IBM and 

3rd party software, City of Rochester or Vendor?   

      A – See Question 14 and 20 above 
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23. Q – Page 8 describes the existing printing environment with 95% of the printing done thru a Bus and Tag attached 

print server which provides the necessary translation to Xerox DJDE (Dynamic Job Descriptor Entry) cards for forms / 

overlays.  On page 10 it states that the vendor must have the “ability to print from the host to City Mainframe printer 

without changes to the existing process.”    

a. Q - What specific server and software is used today? 

A - Refer to RFP p 8   item 1b 

b. Q - Is the hardware / software at supported levels?  

A – Yes, by Rochester Software Associates 

c. Q - Who will maintain the forms / overlays? 

A – the City’s Application Team.  However, the vendor’s System Programmer should understand the flow 

d. Q - Will the City of Rochester provide the print server to the vendor? 

A – (part 1) No, it is our expectation that the vendor will provide a solution to accommodate IP-based 

printing with functionality of the MIS Print server preserved to enable local printing at City of Rochester. 

 

A – (part 2) The existing Xerox printers’ disk area at the City is capable of hosting MIS print server. If the 

mainframe at the vendor site is capable of IP-based printing, the printing can be done at the City. 

e. Q - Section 4.6 #2 speaks to printing to the Xerox printers without the channel attached print server.  

This appears to be contradictory to the above.  Please clarify.   

A -  refer to A – (part 2) just above 

The following questions are specific to Section 4.2 Computer Operations Backup.   During the Q & A session it was 

highlighted that production control would be maintained by the City of Rochester and the vendor would provide 

back-up. 

24. Q - What is the expectation of backup support? 

      A – Initially, we are looking for operator backup support, anticipated to be less than 200 hours/year with 4 hours (or 

more) advance notice. 

25. Q - 4.2 #1 - How is the current schedule set today? 

      A – Most of the time, the schedule is prepared by the nightly operator with requests from users.  Daily scheduled 

jobs are passed to the VSE Power Queue by an in-house written procedure.  Then jobs are released by the operator from 

the Power queue.  There are sets of jobs that run daily, weekly, monthly and yearly.  Operations usually take less than 4 

hours. 

26. Q - 4.2 #1 – Is the scheduled repeatable (example; daily, weekly, monthly) or ad hoc?  

       A – Yes, mostly – about 95% repeatable 

27. Q - 4.2 #1 – Who is responsible for the submitting production jobs today?  

      A – The Computer Operator  

28. Q - 4.2 #2, #3, #4 – How are jobs, systems and exception logs monitored today?   

      A - by visual observation looking at the console.  Abends are recorded by the operator and operator will call the on 

call application analyst for corrective action. Instruction will be given to the operator as to what to do. 

29. Q - 4.2 #5 – Who recovers failed jobs today and who determines how the recovery is to occur?   

      A – See above response 
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30. Q - 4.2 #5 what documentation is currently in place for errors and recovery procedures of failed jobs? 

      A - Most of our Application systems follow a simple paradigm. At the start of the evening production run - every 

Application system’s scheduled jobs begin with a backup job that backs up that particular Application system’s VSAM 

files, then the scheduled jobs are released, and the last step concludes with another backup of VSAM files of that 

system.   If anything abends during an Application System scheduled run recovery is done by restoring from the 

beginning backup. Each system has restore JCL available for the operator. 

31. Q - 4.2 #6 Will you provide the necessary information to develop operational procedures? 

      A - Yes, after the vendor is selected 

32. Q - 4.2 #8 Will you provide written documentation on the program control specifications? 

      A - Yes, after the vendor is selected 

33. Q - 4.2 #9 Will you provide standards and procedures currently in place to ensure the transmission of reports? 

      A – Yes, after the vendor is selected 

34. Q - 4.3 #1, #2, #3 – Please elaborate on the documentation.   Are there current written specifications and 

requirements?  If so, will you supply them?  

      A - This refers to the technical documents that will be maintained by the System Programmer related to system 

upgrades, third party application implementation etc.  Procedures that are relevant to DR back up procedures also will 

be kept up-to-date by the system programmer for the City of Rochester’s DR process.  

35. Q - 4.4 #2 - What tapes are being received and by whom? 

      A – This refers to DR backup tape.  The City would like a log maintained of all tapes  

36. Q - 4.7 #2a. – What project management tools, systems are required? 

      A – Microsoft Project is preferred. 

37. Q - 4.8 #1 – Will you provide these standards and policies prior to RFP submission? 

      A – No, these will be provided after the vendor is selected 

38. Q - 4.10 #3 – Please clarify this statement.  What type of support: systems, application programming, and/or 

operations?  

      A - Any application failures due to system related failure.  Example: Expert knowledge support in JCL, EXEC, REXX, 

VSAM, COBOL compiler issue and third party software etc. 

39. Q - Page 28 at the bottom there is a statement about estimated training requirements.   Please elaborate on this 

statement.   Is this training of City of Rochester personnel?   Training on what specifically? 

      A - Yes during transition. Testing and training needs for the in-house application support group on all aspects of the 

daily operation such as printing, submitting jobs, accessing FTP from mainframe.  Also, testing and training needs for the 

users how to access at vendor site etc.   

40. Q - Attachment A – Pricing Decrement Section on page 30.   What MIPS capacity will you require below 59? 

      A - We expect the Vendor to provide this information.  We are seeking your pricing schedule for scaled down 

configurations.  We would need assistance to determine timing when decremented size and cost are feasible for our 

needs. 

 
* Note: The VSE has now been upgraded to release 5.2 – this is reflected in an updated Appendix B. 
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Appendix B (revised 11/15/16 to reflect VSE operating system is now version 5.2 and removed DB2) 
 
                         CITY OF ROCHESTER            AS OF 11/15/2016 
 
 
                          VM/VSE HARDWARE INFORMATION 
 
 
  CPU:       IBM SYSTEM Z10 BUSINESS CLASS ENTERPRISE SERVER 
                 MACHINE TYPE: 2098, MODEL E10, F01 
                 (2 LPARS): 
                 LPAR1: 59 MIPS (RUNS BULK OF CITY BUSINESS OPERATIONS), MSU=7. 
                 REAL MEMORY: 12GB 
 
  CPUID: (LPAR1) CPUID = FF0164A620988000 
 
  CPU SERIAL #:  164A6 
 
  2424 (DS8870) EXTERNAL DASD SPECS: 
                     CONFIGURED AS 3390 DASD 
                     4.8TB 
                     15    TRKS/CYL. 
                     58786 BYTES/TRK. 
                     2.945 GB/PACK. 
 
  CHANNEL SPECS: 
                      EIGHT ESCON CHANNELS. 
                      EIGHT FICON CHANNELS FOR DASD AND TAPE     . 
 
 
  VIRTUAL        IBM Type 3490 (16 DRIVES) 
  TAPE             Addresses: 470-477 (PRODUCTION ONLY) VTA USE 
  DRIVES:                             480-483 (TEST ENVIRONMENT) VTA USE 
                                              490-493   (Free Drives for CMS usage) 
                  
  REAL TAPE      IBM TYPE 3592 CARTRIDGE (2 DRIVES) –Disaster Recovery Purposes 
  DRIVES:           ADDRESSES: 5B0-5B1 (VM/VSE USAGE) 
 
 
 
PRINTERS:      XEROX D95CP LASER PRINTER (3211) 
                        XEROX D120CP AT CITY HALL FOR BACKUP 
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                     CITY OF ROCHESTER            AS OF 11/15/2016 
 
                     VM/VSE SOFTWARE INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 ---------------------------VM SECTION---------------------------------- 
 
                        SOFTWARE INSTALLED 
 
 
  VENDOR    PRODUCT                       MAINT/SERV      PROD/SERVICE 
                                             LEVEL        LIB. LOCATION 
 
   IBM      Z/VM VERSION 5, REL. 4.0      0901 (64-BIT) 
 
   IBM      CMS LEVEL 24                       901 
 
   IBM      GCS VERSION 5, REL. 4.0            901 
 
   IBM      CMS UTILITIES V1R11 (R03M00)                  S-DISK (190) 
 
   IBM      IOCP/VM V1R91                                 S-DISK (190) 
 
   IBM      VSE/VSAM FOR VM/CMS (V6R10) 
 
   IBM      DMS/CMS (V2R10)                              Y-DISK (19E) 
 
 
   IBM      TCP/IP Z/VM V540 
 
   IBM      PERFORMANCE TOOLKIT FOR VM FL540 
            (REPLACES RTM/ESA/ALIAS SMART) 
 
   IBM      RSCS V3R20                                    RSCSNET 
 
   IBM      DITTO/ESA V1R30 (VM)                          Y-DISK (19E) 
 
   IBM      LE/370 SUBSET V1R60 
 
   IBM      EREP/VM V3R50                                     EREP 
 
   IBM      DEVICE SUPPORT FACILITIES V1R17.0                 Y-DISK 
            (ICKDSF) 
 
   IBM      HIGH LEVEL ASSEMBLER V1R40 (HLASM) (VM)          Y-DISK 
 
   IBM      3270 PC FTP/VM VER. 1.11                   MAINT 3B0 (T-DISK) 
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            (IND$FILE MODULE T1)                     & MAINT 319(P-DISK) 
            (PRODUCT 5664-281-01) 
 
 
 
 
 
 ---------------------------VSE SECTION--------------------------------- 
 
 CITY OF ROCHESTER            AS OF 11/15/2016 
 
                        SOFTWARE INSTALLED 
 
 
                        
 
PRODUCT A04CTP    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - TCP/IP 1.5.0' 
                   COMPRISES    5686-A0400 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.TCPIPC       (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT BS1C10    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - IPV6/VSE 1.1.0 
                   COMPRISES    5686-BS100 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.PROD         (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952C    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - VSE BASE PROGR 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF911 5686-CF910 5686-CF909 5686-CF908 
                                5686-CF905 5686-CF903 5686-CF901 
                   RESIDES IN   IJSYSRS.SYSLIB    (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952D    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - VSE IUI ENGLIS 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF902 
                   RESIDES IN   IJSYSRS.SYSLIB    (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952G    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - VSE AF/PWR/VSA 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF906 5686-CF905 5686-CF903 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD1.MACLIB       (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952I    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - REXX/VSE 9.2.0 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF916 5686-CF912 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD1.BASE         (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952J    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - VSE AF GENERAT 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF906 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.GEN1         (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952K    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - LE/VSE BASE 1. 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF932 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.SCEEBASE     (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952L    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - LE/VSE C 1.4.9 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF933 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.SCEEBASE     (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952M    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - LE/VSE DBCS LO 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF934 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.SCEEBASE     (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952N    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - VSE CONNECTOR 
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                   COMPRISES    5686-CF935 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD1.BASE         (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952O    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE CF VERSION 5.2.0 - OSA 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF930 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD1.BASE         (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952P    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - VSE CONNECTOR 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF938 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.PROD         (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952S    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - CRYPTO SERVICE 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF917 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD1.BASE         (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952V    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - CF OS/390 API 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF914 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.OS390        (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952W    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - LE/VSE COBOL 1 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF936 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.SCEEBASE     (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT CF952Z    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - LE/VSE PLI 1.4 
                   COMPRISES    5686-CF937 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.SCEEBASE     (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT DS21NM    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - ICKDSF 1.17.0' 
                   COMPRISES    5658-99201 
                   RESIDES IN   IJSYSRS.SYSLIB    (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT F424NO    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - ASN/VSE 7.4.0' 
                   COMPRISES    5697-F4201 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.ASN740       (PRODUCTION PART) 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.DB2750       (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT 02614V    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 4.2.0 - CICS/VSE GEN. 
                   COMPRISES    5686-02601 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.CICSOLDG     (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT 02614W    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 4.2.0 - CICS/VSE RCF 2 
                   COMPRISES    5686-02601 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.CICSOLDP     (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT 02614X    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 4.2.0 - CICS/VSE PROD. 
                   COMPRISES    5686-02601 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD2.CICSOLDP     (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT 054B0P    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - CICS TS FOR VS 
                   COMPRISES    5648-05400 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD1.BASE         (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT 065FE6    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - ACF/VTAM VERSI 
                   COMPRISES    5686-06501 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD1.BASE         (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT 09936O    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - DITTO/ESA VERS 
                   COMPRISES    5648-09901 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD1.BASE         (PRODUCTION PART) 
PRODUCT 234689    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - HLASM 1.6.0' 
                   COMPRISES    5696-23400 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD1.BASE         (PRODUCTION PART) 
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PRODUCT 260E00    INSTALLATION DATE = 05/12/2014 ‘Z/VSE 5.2.0 - EREP VERSION 3 
                   COMPRISES    5656-26001 
                   RESIDES IN   PRD1.BASE         (PRODUCTION PART) 
 
 
 -------------------THIRD PARTY VENDOR SECTION-------------------------- 
 
                           CITY OF ROCHESTER            AS OF 11/15/2016 
 

SOFTWARE INSTALLED 
 
 
   UNIVERSAL SOFTWARE     CASPER                VERSION 0103    (VIRTUAL TAPE SYSTEM) 
 
 
   GROUP1 SOFTWARE        EZ-9 ZIP PLUS4        REL 2.3 (AUGUST 1992) 
 
   ALLEN SYSTEMS          TMON FOR CICS/TS      VER. 1.0 PSL LEVEL: 0803 
   GROUP (ASG)                (VSE)             (CICSP/CICSXP) 
 
   ALLEN SYSTEMS          PERFORMANCE WORKS     VER 2.2 ML971C 
   GROUP (ASG)                FOR VSE           (CICSP) 
 
   ALLEN SYSTEMS          MONITOR FOR CICS      VER 7.8 ML971C 
   GROUP (ASG)             (TMON/LSS)           (CICSP) 
 
 
   COMPUTER ASSOCIATES    UFO R3.2.0           (SP02/GL9410)        (CICSP, CICSXP) 
   CA-CIS               SRVLEVEL 12 0801 CGN     * 
   ESA/SYSTEM ADAPTER   6.1      12 0801 AY5     * 
 -----------------------------------------------------------------------* 
   PRODUCT                   RELEASE              SERVICE LEVEL    * 
   -------------------              ----------               -------------------    * 
   CA-CATLG/MGMT        6.0                       12 0801 AY3     * 
   CA-CAISPACE                 1.1                       12 0801 AYE D E * 
   CA-DYNAM/D                7.1                        00 0809 ADD     * 
   CA-DYNAM/T                 7.1                        00 0809 ATD     * 
   CA-DYNAM/FI                7.1                        00 0809 AFD     * 
   CA-CCI/VSE                     1.1                        12 0801 A3C     * 
   CA-INDEX-VTOC             7.1                         00 0809 AY9     * 
   CA-ENF/VSE                    1.0                         12 0801 B6O     * 
   COMPUTER ASSOCIATES    CA-ACTIVATOR/VM 1.2   GENLEVEL 0204 
   COMPUTER ASSOCIATES    CA-CIS 1.0 (VM)                 GENLEVEL 0204 
   COMPUTER ASSOCIATES    DYNAM/T 2.3 (VM)            GENLEVEL 0204 
   COMPUTER ASSOCIATES    PANVALET (VSE)                 REL 14.4 (GL0106) 
   COMPUTER ASSOCIATES    PANVALET (CMS OPTION) REL 14.4 (GL0106) 
   COMPUTER ASSOCIATES    EASYTRIEVE/VSE                  VERSION 9.0D 
   COMPUTER ASSOCIATES    EASYTRIEVE PLUS/VSE   VERSION 6.3 (GL0102) 
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   SYNCSORT INC.          SYNCSORT/VSE          REL 3.7D 
 
   SAS INSTITUTE          S.A.S./CMS (SEGMENTS) REL 6.09E/TS470 (PROD) 
 
   SAS INSTITUTE          S.A.S./CMS (NO SEGS.) REL 8.1/TS1M0   (TEST) 
 
   MERRILL CONSULTANTS    MXG VER 9.9   (FOR SAS 6.09E) 
   (MXG-EXPANDED GUIDE    MXG VER 11.11 (FOR SAS 6.09E) 
    TO CPE) 
   (MXG-EXPANDED GUIDE    MXG VER 16.01 (FOR SAS 6.09E) 
    TO CPE) 


